HISTORY OF PORTLAND'S VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPARTMENT

By Andrew C., Sherbert.

Portland was founded in 1844, Her first meager build~
ings, hewn from the virgin forest near-about, were protected from
fire by a bucket brigade, the buckets being carried and replenished
by all able members of the community. This primitive method, under
no recorded leadership, obtained until 1850 when the rising village
felt the need of more adequate protection.

In the yeer 1850, a company of volunteer firefighters
was organized with Thomas J. Dryer, owner of Portland's first news-
paper, The Weckly Oregonian, as foreman. Through voluntary subscrip-
tion the organization, which was known as Piloneer Fire Company No. 1,
had acquired a hand pump, which was many times more effective in
extinguishing fires than was the earlier bucket brigsade.

Portland becamec an incorporated clty through grant of
the Territorial Legislature of Oregone The bill, which was prescented
to the Legislaturc December 30th, 1850, passcd the House January l4th,
1851, wes slgned February 8th, 1851, and became effective April 6th
of that year. At the time of incorporation, the forest came down to
the bank of the Willamette River, except that the trees had been cut
from Front street betwecen Burnside and Jefferson streets, The stumps
of the trees had not yet becn removed, and as there were no stroect
lights the stumps were whitc-washed to prevent persons from colliding
with them after nightfall,

Despite this primitive setting, Pioneer Fire Company
No. 1, had ambitions. Portland was growing; 134 shingled roofs werc
to be counted on the town site, and her taxable property was placed
at more than a half million dollars, Effective as the hand pump was
in extinguishing fires, thoere was a better method, and Pioneer Fire
Company No, 1, was determined to have 1t, - a stecam firec engine,

But steam firec engines cost & considerable amount of
money and it was apparcnt that it would be guite impossible to obtain
one through funds raised by solicited contributions. Eager as cvery
resident was for“better firec protcctlon, rcady money was scarce, and,
too, doubtless there were many whose ideas woro not so advanced as
those of Dryer and his sssoclatess It appcarecd that the only certailn
way to ralse the money required for the purchase of a fire engine,
was to levy a tax on all taxable Portland propertye.

; The first move toward this end, waes for Pioneer Fire
Company No. 1, to offer their scrvices to the newly incorporated City
of Portland and thus become a part of city government and have a
voice in municipal affairs, This was done, at the ninth mecting of
the Common Council, held May 6th, 1851, A portion of the transcript
of the Councll Proceedings is as follows:

M eevees.c.sReccorder Caldwell moved that the foreman of

the Fire Company formed in this city be heard, which was
carried. Thomes Je Drycr on behalf of Piocnecr Fire Company
No., 1, offercd thec services of sald company to the City

to aid in extinguishing fires. On motion of Councilman
Thompson it wes voted thet the thanks of the Council be
tendercd to Pioncer Fire Company No. 1 and that the re-
port of the Forcman be accepteeieeceso’

Twenty days later, May 26th, 1851, an clection was
held in which a majority voted in favor of a tax levy for the purpose
of purchasing a steam fire cnginé. At the 26th mececting of the
Council, held October 22nd, 1851, the following action wss taken:

Meeeeeeses...That there be and 1s hereby levieg a tex of one
half of one per cent upon all tsxable property within the
City limits for the purpose of procuring a fire enginc as
authorized by a vote of the citizgms of said city at an
election held on the 26th day of Moy, AeDs 1851ee.ve..”
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The much desired fire engine, however, was still in
the hands of the future as a transcript of the Council proceedings
for March 22nd, 1852, would indicate:

".....The following resolution was offered by
Councilman Slater and adopted by a vote of the Council:
Be 1t resolved that the Mayor be requested to inform
the Council what disposition has been made of the
Ordinance levying a tax for the purpose of purchasing =
Fire Engine and apparatus (sic). In compliance with the
foregoing resolution, the Mayor submitted a communication
which wes received and ordered to be spread upon the
Records, The following is a true copy thereof:

'Gentlemen of the Council - In answer to
your Resolution Inquiring to know of me dispostion I have
made of the duplicates leving a tax to collect and raise
a fund to purchase a Ingine and Hoes (hose) for the use
of the City I will say for your Information that they are
in my desk without my signature, .

H. D. O'Bryant, Mayor.'"

Hugh D, O!'Bryant was Portland's first mayor, a native
of Georgla, and 38 years of age at the time of his electidn. The Re.
corder, W. S. Caldwell, evidéntly was ashamed of the unscholarly com-
munication from the Mayor as he carefully underlined the word "true"
in statlng it was a true copy thereof.

The issuance of city bonds was an unheard of proce-
dure at that early date, municipal purchases commonly being settled
for in gold coin at the time of purchase. Three years elapsed before
enough money had accumulated in the struggling city's coffers with
which to purchase the long desired steam fire engine. 1In 1855, the
clty directed Territorial Governor, George C. Abernethy, then in New
York,to act as theilr representative in consummating the purchase of
the engine. At a mecting of the Common Council, held November 1lOth,
1855, the following information wes disclosed:

"Councilman Slater on the Fire Engine Committce
gave information as follows: That means are now in New York
City nearly if not quite sufficient to purchase an engine
subject to the order of Governor Abernethy when any engine
selected shall be pronounced perfect by an inspector en=-
gaged to inspect same. (The importance and seriousncss of
the transaction may be inferred from the extreme caution
with which the city safeguarded her interests, as the follow-
ing stipulation indicates.) Also to make the matter more
sure, Make-Diamond and Company, of New York, in case of the
decath of Governor Abernethy arc authorized to draw the
money and purchase said engines. He also stated the engine
might be expected in about five months....."

That Governor Abernethy dispatched his fire engine
assignment to the satisfaction of the city is evident from the follow-
ing excerpt from Proceedings of the Common Council, April 15th, 1856:

"Communications and bills enclosed Concern-
ing Fire Engine from Mr. George C. Abernethy, New York, re=-
ccived At the hand of the Mayor were read by Councilman
Slater & commented on with remarks highly complimentary
to Mr. Abernethy for the Interist (sic) he has taken in
his Agency for the purchasc of a Fire Engine for the City
of Portland in which it wes supposed he could feel but
little interist."
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After its long journey 'around the horn', the fire
engine arrived in San Francisco in July, 1856, and a resolution read
at a meeting of the Council held July 26, 1856, was as follows:

: "Be it resolved that an order be drawn

on the Treassurer for the sum of One Hundred and Thirteen
Dollars and Forty five Cents in favor of G. W. Vaughn
for payment of Freight on Fire Engine &c From New York
to San Francisco. . . "

The fire engine was transferred at San Francisco to
a ship bound for Portland, where it arrived shortly after to become
the pride of the northwest and to awe and amaze all who beheld it
for the first time. The arrival of Portland's first steam fire en-
gine, on that long-ago day, marked the first important step in the
mechanization of the city's fire fighting equipment which was to cul-
minate in the highly efficient mechanical and intricate and ingenilous
electrical devices used in fighting fires today.

At this point it may be well to mention that the
steam fire engine augmented rather than supplanted the hand pump of
that period. The hand pump remaincd in use for many years after
the advent of the steam engine. Until late in the century, and with-
in the memory of many Portland residents, the hand pump appearocd
regulerly at fires. The hand pump was mounted upon a pair of high
wheels, for casy mobility, and wss cquipped with two rocker-bars
which were raised and lowered, sec-gsaw fashion, to actuate the pump
plunger. Each rocke¢r-bar was long enough to afford hand-holds for
a half dozen or morc persons and the continuous up-and-down motion
necessary to the pump's operation wes considered extremely strcnuous
exercisce even among the hardiecst members of the community, that is,
if the fire was of long duration. To man the pumps wes obligatory
in an emergency and to rcfusc to do so was punlshable by fine.
Ordinance No. 11, May 22nd, 1854, stated in part:

". « . That any porson or persons may be
rcalled upon to assist the Firc Department and failure to
comply with this order is punishable by fine . .Physicisons,
whilst engaged in their profcssional dutles, arce cxempt
from this order « + "

But manning the pumps did not long romain a duty of
franchised Portlanders. The city had a lesrge Chincserpopulation
(every fourth Portlander wes a Chinaman, as late as 1880.) and the
oncrous chorc of pumping soon belonged, by command, to the Chinaman,
whether willing or unwilling. This seeming display of race prefercnce
found justification, in the occidental conscience, in the claim that
the Chinese fire-fighter could not understand the shouted commends of
the fire chief and wes bettoer suited, therefore, to the menial task
of bending up and down at the pumps. The white voluntcers attended
to the more spectacular and lcss arduous duties of cxtending hose
lines, adjusting conncctions, and dirceting the streams of water
against the flamese

In the carly days Portland had no general water
system. Water was obtained from streams, wells, and springs. With
the growing use of hand pumps, and following the city's acquisition
of a stcam fire engine, the neced for a more convenient and abundant
supply of watcr for fighting fires became urgent. On November 10th,
1855, the following resolution was actod upon at a meeting of the
Common Council:

"Be it rcsolved that the Committec on
Strcets and Public Improvements be instructed to
obtain from the City Surveyor an opinion or rcport
upon tho cxpediency of constructing at thc present
season Rescrvoirs for the use of the Fire Departmeont.
Also to obtain from him a proposced plan for construc-
ting said Reservairs in dotaill and also an cstimate
of the cost thercof. . ."
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At a meeting of the Common Council held January 1l2th,
1856, the reservoir plan was adopted in the following resolution:

"Be it resolved by the Council of the
City of Portland: That they adopt the plan recommended by
the Committee of the Whole upon arising from the considera-
tion of a plan which had been laid before the Council at
a previous mecting. The plan thus adopted is that the
Cisterns are to be bullt of wood and of the peculiar
manner and mechanism as is represcnted by a model that is
presented to the Council by said Committee, the Capacity
of sald Rescervolrs to be flfteen feet square and nine
feet deep, to be caulked and pitched. « "

The construction of the firc cisterns began immediat-
ely and soon cvery important intersection in the congecsted section
of the city had a cistern - installed and filled with water. At
first, certain partlics contracted to haul watcr from the river with
which to fill the cisterns. Subscquently, the various cisterns were
connected by a system of conduits and water was piped from Balch and
Carruthers crcecks to kcep them supplicde.

The carly pitched-timber cisterns were difficult to
keep in rcopair so were roplaced by brick rescrvoirs. These brick
recscrvolrs werce added to from time to time as the city grew and all
but three of thc original ones are still in usc. The city at present
hes morc than 80 fire cisterns located at convenient points in the
metropolitan arca, In the event of fallure of the water supply duec
to a landslide at the Bull Run headworks, carthquake, or other local
calamity which might affcet the normal functioning of the weater
system, the firc cisterns would afford ample protection agalnat the
undue advance of any conflagration. This added safecguard is takon
into account by fire underwriters in establishing insurance rates for
Portland propcrtye.

In splite of the simple construction of carly Portland
buildings, and thec rclatively ample spacc between structures, there
werc many potential sourccs of fire in the carly days. Tallow dips,
sperm 01l end coecl-0il lamps were uscd for illiminaticn and cach of
these early sources of light contributcd its shere to the mounting
list of burned buildings. The perlor match had net yet becn invent-
ed, it becing customary for the pioncer householder with a cold hcarth
to cither borrow & shoveclful of live embers from his ncighbor with
which to kindle his fire, or to hasten homc with a blezing pltch
knot retricved from a neighboring fircplace. Lighthing caused fires
then, as todaye. The rapidly growing city constantly cxtended the
clearing in which it ncestlecd and the stumps to be blasted were meny.
The danger of powder as a source of fire wes rocoghnized by the
ploncer lawe-makers as Ordinasnce Neo. 34, pesscd by thce Council Novem=-
ber 27th, 1854, indicatcs:

". « .It shall not be }rwful for any
pcerson or persons to keep for their private usc 1n any
one housc within the limits of the City of Portland more
then five pounds of powder at any cne timce......It shall
not bc lewful for any person or persons to keep in any
one store building more than twenty-five pounds of powder
and that shall be kept in a box, well sccurcd, with the
word "Powdor" distinctly markcd upon it. o «The box shall
always be kept within six fcet of the main entrance of
the buildinge It shall be thce duty of cvery porson kecp=-
ing powdecr to kbbp in a conspicuous place on the front of
the building 2 sign with the words "Powder for Sale" con-
spicuously paintcd upon it. « « o" .

To the ¢nd that a2ll ordinances pertaining to &fire
would be obscrved by the citizens of Portland, the city was Hivided
into two districts and a fire warden for ca ch district was appointed.
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It was the duty of the warden to inspect each building in his district
to see that fire regulations were being obeyed. Ordinance No. 1,
passed by the Council April 7th, 1854, was as follows:

"There shall be a fire warden in every
district, who shall be appointed by the Common Council.
It shall be the duty of the fire warden to examine all
buildings or places where fires are or may be used, for
the purposc of discovering any violations of this or any
other ordinance that may be hereaftor adopted for the
prevention of fires. If, in the opinion of any fire
warden, there 1s danger to be apprehended from the con=
struction of any fireplace, stove, stove pipe, chimney,
or in any other manner from fire, to direct that the
danger be corrected, and if the direction is not com-
plied with in a reasonable time, the partics so offend=-
ing sholl be subjeect to a fine not lecss than fifteen
dollars nor morc than fifty, at the discretion of the
Recordor.”

The original firec limits of the city (Ordinance No.l,
April 7th, 1854,) were bounded as follows: "Beginning 2t the Willam-
ette river and running through Jcfferson strcect to its intcrscetion
with Sccond strcet, thence along Sccond to Ash strcct; thencc along
Ash strect to the interscection of the Willamettc river; thonce along
the water front to the placc of beginning." The firc limits werc
divided into two districts, the first district being thet portion of
the city lying between Jefferson and Alder strects; the sccond district
being the portion betwecn Alder and Ash strocts.

In 1860 Portland was a thriving community with an
cstimated population of more than 3,000, The fire depertment had kept
pacc with the growth of the city. Noecw cquipmont had been purchased
from time to time; stations to housc the cquipment had been built,
and the city wes proud of the depertment and its rccord of achicve-
ment. In April 1863, Mayor David Logan, in his 2nnual message, said
of the firec depertments

". « «Our Fire Dopartmcnt nceds no commen-
dation to recommend it . . +it is a lerge, experlcneed
end well diseiplinod Fire Department, ever vigilant in
the protection of property from the revages of fire,
by which so much decsolation and pcnury has bcen causcd
in the c¢lties of our sister state of Californias « »
The buildings creccted for the usc of two of the com-
panics are a crecdlt and an ornamcnt to the city. The
Judicious cxpenditurc of public moncy in substantial
and elegant"public buildings give impetus to enter-
IRise & a @

Mayor Henry Failing, in June 1865, 1n cqually commen=-
detory terms cxprcsscd a fceling of pride in the fire departmcnt of
that days

"Phe taxpaycrs have been more than re-
pald during the past ycar for the oxpensc attending
the support of the Firc Departmente We have narrowly
cscaped cxtensive fires and this has been due to the
alacrity of our fircmen. Probably no city of its
gize is boettor supplicd with fire apperatus or can
boast of a more efficicnt department. . "

A further milostone in the ftrend toward mechanization
is scen in the following ordinanccs; the first, pssscd March 22nd,
1867, and the sccond, passcd January 10th, 1868:

Ordinnance No. 404. "That the Committcc
on Fire and Weter and Chicf Engincer be and are hoercby
authorized to purchasc for the usc of Protcction Firec
Enzinc Company Nce. 4, of the Firc Department, one of
H, C. Silsby's 3 cless Rotary Steam Firc Engincs at a
cost not to excced Five Thousand dollers ($5,000)...."
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Ordinance No. 460. "That the Committce
on Fire and Water be and sre hercby suthorized to sell
the Hand Engines known s No. 2, and the Hand Enginc
lately in use by Protcction Firc Engine Company No. 4,"

In 1871 Portlend's Voluntecr Firc Dcpartmcent had come
of agc. In the score of ycars thet had passcd since its inception no
firc of major econscgucnec had visited the city. The departmontls
development had becen well planned and the results attained, grotify-
ing. Portland's citizens felt smugly assurcd that the department's
valiant and wcll organizcd members would prevent the occurance of a
major fire in the ycears that werc to:comes S0 proud was the city of
the record of hoer fire fightcers that an anniversary celcbration was
pleanncd in their henor and the following ordinance passcd, August
e3rd, 1871s

"That the sum of Five hundrcd dolleors
be epnd is hercby appropriated out of the Gencral Pund
to dofray the expenscs of thoe cnsuing cclebration of
the anniversary of the Portland Firc Departmoent."

The city's attitude of smug assurance sufferced a rude
shoek, however, in the two years that followesd. 1In Deccmber, 1872,
a fire destroyed three important city blocks with 2 loss estimotcd at
a holf million dollarse Inscdcquate fire-fighting cquipment was blamed
for this conflagration and agitetion wos begun immediately for an im-
proved fire department. Howevor, before much had bcocen accomplished
in that dircetion, 2 sceond end grceter flre, August 2nd, 1873, bogsn
st First and Salmon strects and devestated 22 city blocks. This fire
wes of such magnitude and occasioncd so much propprty loss and pecrson-
al suffering thet the community was lcng in rccovering from its offccet.
Many familie. were rendored homcloss Lnd, a groat many of the eity's
business centerpriscs having boeen destroyed b] the fire, many pcrsons
were out of cmployment.

A committee wes formecd to assist the destitute re-
fugees in their cefforts towsrd rehabilitation.  Funds for the =21d of
the ncods were contributed by eble citizens who had had the guod for-
tune to have beon unaffcctced dircctly by the fire. Distant cities,
out of sympsthy, offercd financilal assistance which wes promptly rec-
fused by the cummittoe, the committoc proudly claiming that “refusal
of outside help was the only course consistent with the honor ond
good name of the citye" Incildentally, the reclief committee was sharp-
ly criticised by many for its stand in the matter.

Whon a fire occurrcd, Portland's voluntcer fircmen
were summoned to acticn by a bell, centrally located, which could be
hoard by all. As tho town's boundaries cxtended, a larger bell was
necdeds On October lst, 1873, the Council passcd the following
ordinances

"Phe Committce on Firce and Water and
the Chief Enginocr are hercby authorigod to contrasct for
and purchasc a Bell fur fire alarm purposes of not leas
than rou¥ thousand noP more tharn fortysfive hundred
pounds weight qnd at a cost not cxcecding twenty=two
hundred dollars."

The huge bell wes no sooncr installed than it was
rendered obsolete by the eppecarancce on the msrket of an electric
telegraphie alarm systeme The cleetrie alerm heving provon its worth,
Portland was among thce first Amcrican citics to contract for one of
the new tclegrophlic alarm systems. An ordinance authorizing the
purchasc of thc systom wes passcd by the Council February 17th, 1875,
and wes as follows:

"e ¢« « The Committcc on Firc and Wotor for
for the Clty of Portlﬂnd arc herceby authorized ta con-
tract for the purchesc and crcetion of telegraph wires,
gignal boxes, Engine housc gongs, Bell-ringing apporotus
and such other appurtcnences as shall be requirea to
cstablish a systom of sutomatic teclegraphic Fire Alarms:
Providceds Thore shall be not less than ten signgl bozxes,
four cnginc housc gongsy and onc Belle-ringing apparatus
for large =lorm bell and that the cost of crecting samo
shall not cxceocd the sum of Scventy-five hundred dollars."
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The systcm wes installcd satisfactorily and the loca-
tiong of the firc alarm boxes - as listed in the Oregon Statec Dircee
tory for 1880 - wore as follows:

Noe 4 Hall and Filrst.

No. 5 Tiger Enginc Company House, Fourth Strcct.

No. 6 Protcction Enginc Company Housc, First Strocct,
Noes 7 Joffersun and East Park.

No. 8 Morrlson and Tonth Strccts.

No. 9 North Eighth and E Strects.

Noel?2 Morrison and First Strcets.

No.13 Washingtun and Front Strects.

No.14 Scecond and Osk, at Policc Building.
No.15 Ankceny's New Market.

No.16 Clarendon Hotcl,

No.21 Corncr Fifth and Morrison

(The Stete Dircctory for 1880 also observes that, "
"The Portland Fire Department is a voluntecr body comprising in its
renks many of our best citizens, and to their active exertions, we
have morc than once owcd the safcty of the city.")

It scems an anachronism that clecetricity entered the
firc department beforc the ora of the horse, but such, nevorthecless,
woa the fact. An excerpt from a rocord of the Council procecdlings,
January 7th, 1880, is descriptive and explanatorys

"The Firc Dopartment still maintains its high stond-
ard of efficiency. Owing, however, to the rapid growth of the city
(Portland's population was then 21,523) it is nccessary that horses
should be provided for at lecast two of the compenics to haul the
cngines. The voluntcer firomen have always respended with alacrity
whon called on at all hours of the day or night, but it rcquirecs
time after the alarm is sounded for cnough of the firemen to reach
the cngine houscs t2 haul the engines to tho scence of the fire, and
efter they dov roach the fire they arc exhausted from herd work houl=-
ing the engincs over the rough, muddy strects and not able to do the
hard work required of thom, for which they rceccive no cumpensation.
The horsces should be kcpt rcedy feor scrvice at a moment's noticce..."

The above suggestion was not acted upon immediately,
as two yecrs loter, in the Council Procecdings of January 4th, 1882,
the following communication was reeorded:

"The Volunteer force has been as
efficient as could rcasonably be expected for men serve
ing without paye. The time hes come when mon cannot scrve
without pay in this most arduous worke Thc services of
the men in this dcepartment should be paid for. Horscs
should be provided for a sufficicnt number of engines
to cnable them to reach thc outer portions of the city
in as short a timc as possible to prevent the spread of
gonflogrations « "

On January 7th, 1883, by consent of the pcople, an
oct was passed establishing a paid fire department for the City of
Portland. Thec act also provided for horses, which marked the begine
ning of a colorful period in the history of Portland's fire depart-
ment. An estimate for the appropriation neccessary for the charge
from a voluntccor deportment to a paid department, and the amount
necded for meintenance for the fiscal year of 1883, wes as follows:

"Chiocf Engincer's Salarye.ec.ecececsss.sh2,000400
1st Agsistant's Salaryeeccecsssccascce 500.00
Pnd Assistant's SelarYeecescssasessanse 400,00
SGCret Ol eccoscesscencsvcosacnssnconsnce 900,00
Supcrintondent Fire Alermecesceccocscs 600,00
Salarics (5) Companics (48) nen.......22,000.00
Roent of Offices for Commissicners..... 3256.00
Purchose of 14 hOPaG8ssssssvssssusanas Ox000s00
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Pour fiow Hose CidloecassnssnssssnsiosssneBiaB00s00
Harnoes ond BopolPlssrsassnnssvsspotsanss 650,00
Hovst DI0BROlBassinssMmassvsgesan s it o 200,00
Bog 278 BB IB0 sesssssasnanrnsanssssrsnse Sy000400
HOPSO Fecdooo-nooocooo--;-....-oo'o.o.-oo 2,400-00
Shoolng Of BOrS0fecssssnsasadsssss@sanss s 275.00
Coal and WOUd.-oa-.oo-.c--o-on-co--o.oo-u 450.00
031 and Spwngesoo.............,.......... 500,00
COkO..l..'....l..'....'.l......!...QO..i. 400.00
MO’:‘liCinOS‘.o..".I..Q........O...OI.C!O.. 50'00
Supplies for mointaining Fire Alarm...... 500,00
Fitting up Commissioner's Office, Books,
Stationory, etCecceceveccscaceasnse 750,00
Altorations to engine houscSesesecseseses 2,500.00
Repalrs on apparatuS.seesessnsssssnseeess 2,500,00
Watcer for JOEresecooeossesoscescocsesesssse S,OO0.00
CUnStructiUn of new hydrants............. 1’200.00
Construction of new clasterns.i.essesessess 3,000,00
Telephone =e¢xpeonses of telephonCasspspsss 300,00
Gag for deportmonty.s ssssassnsssanssssss  BO0L00"

Thus was inauguratcd a new municipal burceau,
Portland's "peid" firc dcepartment - and thus was the curtain lowered
on Portland's historic Volunteer Fire Departmont, whose picturesque
members for 32 yecars valiantly stood between Portland and the cver-
menacing threat of firec.



HISTORY OF THE PORTLAND FIRE DEPARTMENT,1850-1937

Part 2, The "Paid" Fire Department, 1883-1937

With the inauguration of a paid department an entirely
new order prevailed, The roster of volunteer fire-fighters had
btorne the names of many of Portland's first citizens -including
the leading merchants, bankers, lawyers and brokers, During the
volunteer deys it was not uncommon to witness customers, clerks,
and the proprietors of an establishment rushing pell mell from
a place of business - to take their posts at the hand-poles and
ropes of hard drawn volunteer equipment - in response to the ur-
gent clanging of the alarm bell,

Without shadow of disrespect for the picturesque vol-
unteer it must be said that the newly inaugurated system promised
to be manifestly the better way, Authority was to become more
centralized, Rigid discipline could be - though unfortunately
was not always -~ maintained, The paid fireman was to hold his
posltion because of personal qualifications, therefore, 1t was
believed that each would strive to acquaint himself more thorough-
1y with the duties incumbent upon a successful firefighter,

Under the new system % permanent fireffien and 7 callmen were to be
quartered in each station house, ready instantly to spring into
action when an alarm sounded, ©Speed, being the most essential
ingredient in any formula of successful firefighting, thils wes a
highly important consideration and a vast improvement upon the
old method,

In 1883, the paid fire department's first year, Portland
was becoming a city of size and importance with a population
approximating 25,000, In the metropolitan district, buildings
were commencing to point shyward; four, five, and six story
buildings were becoming common and increasing foot-front values
were causing building congestion. Taller buildings brought fire-
fighting problems not faced by the doughty volunteer, Fire-
fighting had become a business, and a tremendously serious bus-
iness, The new personnel needed to be composed of men who were
physically able and temperamentally suited to battle fire from
the top-most rungs of tall, swaying ladders, Equipment neecded
to be the best that money could buy and that the inventiveness
and ingenuity of the times had made available, These, Portland
had, in perhaps as great a measure as contemporary cities of
comparable size,

In the carly days of the paid department a deterrent to
achievement and efficiency was caused by the close linking of
the department with politics, Men were appolintzd or rcleascd
as much on grounds of political affiliation than on a basis of
individual ability., The tenure of office of a fire chief was
brief indeed if his political views happened not to find favor
with the current administration. FPire department affairs were
constantly entangled in political intrigues, This unhappy
situation caused continual turmoll within the department - en-
gendered 111 fecling among its members - and militated against
the department's proper functioning and advancement, " In the
first twelve years of the pald department's existance, 1883-
1895, there had been five firce chiefs appointed:

Thomas A, Jordan =e-ecec-c---- -1883
i T T 188l,-1892
Robert HoOlmanwsemews <o <mbwmonis 1892
John Buchtelsscscssvmsssnsevssne 1893
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The illustrious David Campbell, perhaps Portland's most
colorful fire chief, was chlef of the fire department from June,
1895, to September, 1896, Campbell was too rugged an individual-
ist to accede to the wishes of the administreation then in power
when 1ts wishes 4id not conform to hls own., As a matter of pclit-
ical expediency Cumpbell was recmoved from thc department ot 6:00
P.M., the eveningz of September 30, 1896, at the instance of Mayor
Sylvester Pennoyer. Coincident with Campbell's removal, the
Cowncil ordered all fire department salaries cut and all members
of the department quit with thelir retiring chief, to the grzat
smbarrassment of the szrvice,

F, DecBoest succecded Campbell, holding the position
until July, 1898, when Mayor W, S, Mason, who succceded Pennoyer,
restored Chief Compbell to his former poslition, OChlef David
Campbsll remainzd chief until June, 26, 1911, when he was killed
in line of duty.

Cavid Camphell was a two-fisted man whosc expecrience in
firefighting cdated back to volunteer days, In his 20's he was
also a pugilist of more than local reputation, having had the
temerity - and the fistie ability to be recognized by - Jack
Dempsey (The Nonnareil), a firstestring fighter of internationeal
renown, An extract from the Oregon, Octeber 10, 1985, announces:

"Jack Dempsey, hero of 22 fights, arrives
here from Callifornia and says he is willing to
fight David Campbell of this city with or with-
out gloves, for %2,000 , . . ," Campbell olso
fought Jdames J, Corbett a 10 round draw,

Campbell carried his aggrecssive spirit and fighting
prowess into the department, subliming these personecl attributes
into a high order of executive ability, He was well 1liked by his
subordinates who found him a fair and lmpartisl leader and a de-
pendable friend, He met the gaze of those above him with unswerv-
ing directness, His men knew him tc be & lcader who would not
ask them to face a personcl hazard which he himself would not
willingly accept, The truth of the latter statement was borne out
at the time of hls gdeath 1in the ﬁlO0,000 Union 0il Plant fire,
June 26, 1911, His last order to the men of Engine Company 7,
perhaps saved their lives, These men were working near a wall
which Cnmpbéll considered unsafe, He ordered them back out of the
danger zone, He himself then Tearlessly entered the flaming in-
ferno in search of posslbly entrapped persons and to ascertain at
first hand the condition of the fire and the means best caleculst:d
to extinguish 1t, An explosion of vapor-filled gas tanks razed
the building, burning and burying Chief Campbell, Th=z cities cf
the entire Paclfic coast mourned the tragic passing of thlis color-
ful and herole figure, At a recent memorial program, attended by
Chief Grenfell end representatives from every company in the fire
bureau, City Commissioner Riley pald this high tribute at Camphrell's
grave in Riverview Cemetery:

. « «The greatest hero, the most cutstending
firemen and the most beloved cheorecter who
gver were the bedge of the Portland Fire
Departrment,"

In 1903, a signel step was taken in the direction of
greater efflclency of municipel bureaus, That year marked the in-
auguration of civil service in Portland, Civil service divorced
rmnicipal employees from the evils of political control - wesded
out the unfit and put an end to nepotism, favoritism, party
cliques and alllances, and other inethicel practices which in the
past had held real progress in check,
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The fire department was quick to benefit from the salutary effect
of this innovation, TUnder civil service, each individual exper-
iences a feeling of security and a sense of psPmoncnéy_not pos-
sible formerly when a change of administration might easily mean
the terminetion of his job, An attitude of security maede for
better morale throughout the department and lent impetus to great-
er co-operatic and achievement,

It must not be inferred, however, that Portland's fire
department had made no advancement prior to this point, At the
turn of the century, and despite the obvious disadvantages which
accompanied political control, Portland's fire department suffer-
ed little in compariscn with fire departments elsewhere in towns
of like size, In fact, on occasion, Portland had frequently given
proud voice to laudatorv comments concerning her fire dep;rtmont
and 1ts record, Equipment was considered sdequate to the necds
of the city and was as advanced in design as could be found eny-
where,

The dccade 1900 to 1910 saw great population gains in
Portland, Rising from a town of 90,000 in 1900, Portland boasted
a population of 215,000 ten years later, This tremendous in-
crease in population in so short a period was due in part to the
Alaska gold rush, which brought many settlers to the Northwest;
and in part to the Lewils and Clark Centennial Exposition, cele-
brated in Portland in 1905, and which brought much favorable
publicity and many new rasidegﬁg to Portland, During thesc boom
years the fire bureau was har o keocp up with the growth and
extension of the city., Hydratts were insufficient in number to
adequately protect the new buildings which were springing up in
all quarters, Equipment had to be augmented continually and ncw
flre stations established and outfitted. The ponderous machinery
of municipal governmcnt, however, movcd more slowly in the purchase
of new equipment than the rapld growth of the city warranted, which
for a time rendered the city vulnera ble to the visitation of a
szrious conflagration, Fortunately, no firec of outstanding sig-
nificance occurred during this pEriod of inedcquate preparcdness,

The efficiency of the fire departmént -« over a period of
years - may be measured in dollars and cents., An unerring check
upon the efflciency of the department may be: found in the figures
released annually by the flre bureau relative to total and pe
caplta fire losses, In 1883, the first yesr of the paid Fire
De pﬂrtment Portlﬁnd's fire losscs aggregated 319, OOO in round
figurcs, r 1910, .fire losses had inereased to &905 OOO The
? zar 19lh saw’ the elty's fire loss recth the staggering total of

51,762,493.,6, with an accompanying per capita loss of $6,89,
ThuSC appallinw figurcs were a matter of serious public concern,
Portlandt!s citizens demanded more adzquate fire protection,
though how it was to be accomplished few were able rcadily to
cxplain,

Jay Stevens, appointed fire marshal in November 191l,
had a plan, MNost fires were caused by carelessness, neglect, or
ignorance, He belleved thot people could be educated to become
more carcivl with fire, « He belicved that periodic inspections
should bc made to loente and abate fire hazerds, He coined the
slogon "The time to fight a fire is before it sterts," Commis-
sioner Bigelow und Mayor Albeec concurrcd with Stevens in the be-
lief that the plan was a good one and worthy of trial, The year
1615 saw the establishment of Portland's Fire PBrevention Bureau,
which bureau has been functioning successfully cver since,

The success of the innovation became apparent upon
publlication of Natlonal Fire Underwriters figures for 1915, which
diselosed thet Portland's fire losses had been redueed nearly a
half-million dollars in comparison with the year previous, This
seemed ample evidence that the fire prevention idea hrd merit and
was worthy of continuance,
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Since the inauguration of the fire prevention Bureau Portland's
annual fire losses have crept steadily downward, amounting in

19%6 to $1,33,0,0,28, with a corresponding per cepita loss of 1,35,
Incldentally, the latter figure 1s substantlally below the national
per capita loss average, which was %2.05 for 1936,

No history of the Portland fire department would be com-
plete without mention of the firetorse and the important part it
played in the speeding up of the fire department of earlier times,
With the coming of the paid fire department the voluntecr firemen
unhooked the handpoles and ropes and relinquished their weary job
of hauling the swaying hose-carts and ladder trucks to the speed-
ier and better-cble horse, During the two score years that horses
figurcd in the department - until they, in turn, were replaced by
still speedier, motorized units - many of these intelligent animals
became better known and recornized by the majority of Portland's
citizens than were many of the rank and file department members,
There was, for example, old Jerry who entered the service in the
80's and remained active in the  department for nearly two decades,
Jerry was lead horse on Truck 2, Fourth and Montgomery Streets,

In his early days he threw every ounce of his strength against his
collar as he and his stralning partners pulled their brilliant red
truck at break-neck speed over the mud, cobble-stone, plank or
wood block streets of Portland. Later, when progress brought the
smooth asphalt pavement, the eager Jerry tempered his speed some-
what, particularly during the rainy season, following numerous bad
falls on this slippery new surface, Jerry with his teeth could
pull the rope which opened the fire house doors when an alarm
sounded; and also had been trained to grasp his master's cap by
its visor and to tip it politely when a lady passed, He died in
harness after making a long run to a fire,

Mack, Dad, Bill, Eagle, Hank, Prince, Bismarck - were
among the pioneer horsecs of the department, Colonel, - who enter=-
ed the department in the 80's, was reported to have been the fast-
est fire horse on the Pacific Coast, Colonel died in 1915 at the
ripe old age of %33, This famous horse,- the late Joseph Buchtel,
fire chief in 1893-9l,, asserted - understood the fire alarms and
knew where a fire was as well as the men themselves, He used to
haul a single hose reel, following the engine without a driver,

So thoroughly ingraincd was his sense of duty that once when con-

fined to his stall because of a lame leg, he kicked the side out

of his stall and followed the apparatus to a fire. All of the

fire horses were highly trained animals and apparently enjoyed the

roles they pleypd . in fighting fires, A great deal of the glamor

~ surrounding the firefighting business disappearcd with the pessing
of the fire horse,

The firet department automobile made its appearance in
1909 - an impressive new Plerce Arrow with high wheels, ponderous
wind-shield, right hand drive, coal oil lamps, and rubber-buldb
horn - purchascd for Chief Campbell's use, It was kept in readi-
ness for instant use, and in cese of an alarm, the chief dashed
away at top speecd before the battalion chiefs could get their old-
fashioned buggies into line, The chilef was able to arrive at
any downtown fire before thc apparatus was at hand and had time
to size up the situatlion and decide what method of action was bsasst
to take. So well dld this initial piece of motor equipment serve,
that it sealed the doom of the fire horse, as agitation immediately
thercafter was begun toward motorizing all equipment and apparatus.

The first plece of motor propelled fire apparatus was
put into service in 1911, At the close of the yecar 1913, the dc-
pertment had 17 pileces of motor cquipment in service and by June,
1915, the department's motor apparatus had 1increcased to 26
picces, In April, 1920, the department became completely motor-
ized, the last of the horse<drawn vchicles being retired from
service, Firemen were no longer quartered in stables and 1t had
now become morc essentlial that a flreman understand the function
of a spark-plug then to know the correct procedure to follow in
treating a spavin,
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Portland's present-day fire department 1s a close=knit
highly organizcd structure, It operates with efficiency and a
minirmum of waste effort, Each member has been carefully sclected
by competitive cxaminstion from a host of applicants, Nothing 1is
left to luck -~ nothing, to chance, Intelligent supervision and
constant striving for high objectives has placed Portland's fire
department high among the best rated firefighting orgenizations
in America, The young man who enters the service today, is to
participate in the perpetuction of an institution rich in worth-
while tradition - replete with accounts of outstanding individual
and group achievement - and grcat because of the cumulative re-
sult of the labors of those already serving or who have gone before,
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Fire Chiefs - - - - 1851 - 1937

Thomas J, Dryer 1851

E., W, Davis 18s),

S. J. McCormack 1857

W, Hutchins 1858

J. N, Vansycle 1858-59
Joseph Webber 1860-63
Josoph Buchtel 186l
Tom Young 1865-66
W, H. Weed 1867-68
Robort Holman 1869-70
A, A, Williams 1871-72
Williem O. Bruen 1873-74
A, B, Hellock 1875

J., H. Lyon 1876-77
Harry Morgan 1878-79
Thomas A, Jordan 1880-81
Wm. A, Hart 1882
Thomas A. Jordan 1883

H, Morgan 188l-92
Robert Holman 1892
Joseph Buchtecl 1893
David Campbell 1895

F, DeBoast 1896-1898
Davio Camptretl /189 - 194/
B. F. Dowell 1911-20

Jds Es Young

1920-1923 (Retired)
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Leo G, Holden 192%-1927 (Retired)
Faward Grenfell 1928~

List of Officers, Portland Fire Department

(Chief Edward Crenfell is executive and administrative
head of the department with full control at fires, The first
assistant chlef has charge of examining probsationary members and
is in charge iIn the chief's sbsence, The second assistent chief
has charge of fire boats; other chief officers have special dutles
such as fire prevention, athletics, care of hose and station
supplies, All chief officers have risen from the tanks,)

Chief, Edward Grenfell ears in service - 32
) J 2

}st Asst.,Chief J.L,Dillane " " " -0
2ng * ¥  HC.Johnson ¥ " 4 - %2

Battalion Chiefs:

E.L, Boatright .. ? .38
Herbert Faber e " =24
B. T. French i " - 29
William Grenfell u " " - 19
F, J., McFarland " " o - 29
W, L, Robertson . Ly o - 29
M. R. Stark oo " - 30
C. E, Townsend ’ " " - 25

Fire Marshal:

Battalion Chief
Fred W, Roberts B » o - 39

Fire Alarm Superintendent:

Charles C. Ralph ¥ =" ’ - 15
Superintendent of Apparatus:

N. T. Woods SN ey - 16
Chief Clerk

H F. Bahlman ¥ B " - 18






